RECEIVED
Jul 01 2026
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Patrick Cleburne Fant, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-002427
Circuit Court Case No. 2024-CP-23-06777

Estate of Virginia Parsons, by and through
her Personal Representative, Sandra P. White,
Individually and on behalf of statutory
beneficiaries, Respondent,

v.

Atlas Senior Living, LLC; Atlas Senior
Living II, LLC; AFF18 Oakview Park ALF,
LLC d/b/a Oakview Park Assisted Living;
AFF18 Oakview Park PropCo, LLC; AFF18
Greenville Borrower, LLC; Oakview Park
Developer, LLC, Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Timothy Maio, Esquire

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Arbitration Provision here was unconscionable under generally applicable contract law principles.
- II. Whether the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) preempts *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 644 S.E.2d 663 (2007), and its progeny.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a denial of a motion to compel arbitration. On November 19, 2024, Respondent, Sandra Parsons White, filed a Complaint against Appellants and the Oakview Park assisted living facility. (R. 23).

Respondent is the daughter of the decedent, Virginia Parsons. (R. 165). Respondent alleges that the Oakview Park facility negligently failed to prevent another resident from assaulting Virginia Parsons on or about August 22, 2023 and that this resident-on-resident assault caused injuries to Virginia Parsons that contributed to her death on or about October 5, 2023. (R. 23). The Oakview Park facility maintains that it met the standard of care and did not cause Virginia Parsons' death. (R. 35).

The Residency Agreement. On or about March 21, 2023, Sandra Parsons White signed the Oakview Park Residency Agreement on behalf of Virginia Parsons. (R. 144). The Residency Agreement contained an arbitration provision. (R. 144).

Motion for Production of Other Resident Records. On July 2, 2025, Respondent filed a motion seeking the production of records relating to two residents of the Oakview Park facility who Respondent believes may have assaulted Virginia Parsons. (R. 121).

Motion to Compel Arbitration. On July 3, 2025, Appellants filed a motion to compel arbitration and a motion to stay discovery pending resolution of the motion to compel arbitration. (R. 126). On August 13, 2025, Appellants filed a memorandum in support of their motion to compel arbitration. (R. 132).

On August 28, 2025, a hearing was held on the three motions before the Honorable Patrick Cleburne Fant, III. (R. 44). Respondent filed a memorandum in opposition to Appellants' motion to compel arbitration approximately one hour and fifteen minutes before the hearing was scheduled to begin. (R. 176). In response, Appellants filed a reply memorandum approximately thirty minutes before the hearing. (R. 218).

At the hearing, Appellants moved to strike two affidavits that were included as exhibits to Respondent's memorandum in opposition because they were not served more than two days prior to the hearing, as required by Rule 6(d), SCRCP. (R. 62-63). The Court granted the motion to strike. (R. 62-63, 66).

Respondent argued that Appellants had waived their contractual right to arbitration because several months had elapsed from the time the Answer was filed to the time the motion to compel arbitration was filed. (R. 108-109). In response, Appellants argued that they had done nothing to participate in litigation between the time the Answer and the motion to compel arbitration were filed and had not acted in a matter inconsistent with their right to arbitrate. (R. 67-71). The Honorable Judge Fant indicated at the hearing that he did not believe Appellants had waived their contractual right to arbitration. (R. 118).

Respondent also argued that the arbitration provision was unconscionable and that it was a "despicable clause" drafted by a "soulless, cunning attorney." (R. 87). Respondent argued that procedural unconscionability was present because the arbitration provision was inadequately disclosed and because there was an inequality

in bargaining power between the parties. (R. 110). In response, Appellants referred to the legal standard for procedural unconscionability contained in *Gladden v. Boykin*, 402 S.C. 140, 739 S.E.2d 882 (2013) and noted that, as in *Gladden*, here there was no evidence of “an extreme inequality of bargaining power,” the signer’s “lack of basic reading ability,” the “drafter’s intent to obscure the terms” or any other misconduct on the part of Appellants that could support a finding of procedural unconscionability. (R. 72-77). Appellants further noted that, as in *Gladden*, the signer of the agreement here, Sandra Parsons White, was a licensed real estate agent and therefore a sophisticated party. (R. 73-74).

Next, Respondent argued that substantive unconscionability was present because the arbitration provision allegedly eliminated any statutory right to appeal, placed limitations on discovery, contained a cost-sharing provision, and contained limitation of liability provisions. (R. 84-108).

In response, Appellants disagreed that the arbitration provision disclaimed any statutory right to appeal the arbitrator’s award, argued that limitations on discovery are appropriate and to be expected in arbitration, and that the equal cost-sharing provision was appropriate and did not even apply to a party who was indigent. (R. 78-82, 114-118). Appellants also noted that no South Carolina caselaw exists indicating that any of the limitation of liability provisions were unenforceable or unconscionable. (R. 78-82, 114-118).

Respondent has never disputed that Sandra Parsons White had the express authority, pursuant to a duly executed general durable power of attorney, to sign the

Residency Agreement on behalf of Virginia Parsons. (*See* R. 165-175).

On September 3, 2025, an order was filed granting Respondent's motion for production of the other residents' records. (R. 16).

On September 5, 2025, a Form 4 order was filed finding that while Appellants had not waived their contractual right to arbitration, the arbitration provision was both procedurally and substantively unconscionable. (R. 13). The Form 4 order directed Respondent to prepare a more formal proposed order. (R. 13).

On September 24, 2025, a more formal order was entered by the Court. (R. 7). In fact, the Order appears to have been filed twice on that date, perhaps by mistake. In the September 24, 2025 order, among other things, the Court stated that Appellants bore the burden of proving the "enforceability of the arbitration agreement" and that Appellants had not met their burden. (R. 8).

On October 3, 2025, Appellants timely filed a Rule 59(e) motion in which Appellants argued, among other things, that the Court's September 24, 2025 order effectively stated, incorrectly, that Appellants bore the burden of disproving unconscionability, when, in fact, the burden of proving unconscionability belonged to Respondent, as the party asserting it. (R. 279).

On November 10, 2025, the Court filed a revised formal order in which it stated that the "burden of proving unconscionability lies with the party asserting it" and that the "Court finds that burden has been met." (R. 1).

The Order stated that procedural unconscionability was present because:

The Court notes that there exists a significant inherent disparity of bargaining power between a family member making emergency

placement decisions for a vulnerable adult and sophisticated corporate healthcare providers with extensive experience in these transactions. The arbitration agreement was prepared by the [Appellants] and was presented as a standardized form with no opportunity for negotiation, which is consistent with other cases finding procedural unconscionability in similar circumstances. The arbitration provisions are located on pages 7 to 11 of the 20-page residency agreement, and are not in bold type, nor is arbitration noticed on the first page.

(R. 2-3).

On the issue of substantive unconscionability, the Order stated as follows:

The Court also finds the arbitration agreement to be substantively unconscionable due to oppressive, one-sided terms. These terms include, among others, the following: (a) Severely restricted caps on “non-economic damages”; (b) regarding “economic damages”, a carefully worded provision, the effect of which likely would result in no payment at all, or a miniscule payment, to a Plaintiff injured by Defendant’s negligence in a long-term care situation. Further, such provision seeks to invalidate South Carolina’s well-established Collateral Source Rule; (c) complete elimination of punitive damages; (d) serious limitations on discovery, which include disallowance of all lay person depositions (allowing depositions of experts only), and late presentation of witness lists, exhibit lists, and sworn recorded statements to be relied upon at the arbitration hearing (to be provided 14 working days before the hearing); all of which appears to strongly favor the Defendant, and effectively it would prevent a Plaintiff from obtaining normal discovery and information, particularly in a long-term care negligence case. As Plaintiff emphasizes, in a long-term care negligence case such as the case at hand, all or nearly all of the evidence of the incident/occurrence in question, and the evidence leading to it or underlying it, especially including documents and information, is in the possession and control of the Defendant facility, and all or nearly all of the witnesses having knowledge of relevant events are/were employees of the Defendant facility and are under the facility’s control. The effect of this is likely to favor and protect the Defendant, while impeding the Plaintiff, who bears the burden of proof, in its obligation to gather information, documents, evidence, and witness testimony; (e) Delegation of complete authority to the arbitrator, including gateway issues of arbitrability, and elimination of right of appeal.

(R. 3-4).

The Order declined to sever any of the offending provisions:

The arbitration agreement in this case was prepared by [Appellant], contained within [Appellant's] 20-page residency agreement, and is a contract of adhesion. The court in *Damico vs Lennar Carolinas, LLC*, 437 S.C. 596, S.E. 2d 7 4b (2022), having found unconscionability, declined to sever the unconscionable provisions, finding that the unconscionable terms infected the entire agreement sufficiently that it was more appropriate to refuse enforcement of the entire agreement, rather than the Court attempting to re-write the offending terms. In the present case there are multiple offending provisions which combine to render the agreement unconscionable. As stated in *Damico*, the Court should not attempt to re-write the unconscionable terms, and instead finds this unconscionable arbitration agreement to be unenforceable.

(R. 5).

On December 8, 2025, Appellants timely filed and served the Notice of Appeal.

(R. 319).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Determinations of arbitrability are subject to de novo review.” *Thornton v. Trident Med. Ctr., L.L.C.*, 357 S.C. 91, 94, 592 S.E.2d 50, 51 (Ct. App. 2003). “Whether a contract clause is unconscionable is determined by the court as a matter of law after considering all the facts and circumstances of the case.” 17A Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 273. “Questions of law may be decided with no particular deference to the trial court.” *S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. M & T Enters. of Mt. Pleasant, LLC*, 379 S.C. 645, 654, 667 S.E.2d 7, 12 (Ct. App. 2008).

ARGUMENT

I. The Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) requires Courts to place arbitration agreements on an equal footing with all other contracts, and to enforce them according to their terms.

“The FAA was enacted in 1925 in response to widespread judicial hostility to arbitration agreements.” *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion*, 563 U.S. 333, 339 (2011). The FAA provides that all agreements to arbitrate “shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.” 9 U.S.C.A. § 2.

“We have described this provision as reflecting both a liberal federal policy favoring arbitration, and the fundamental principle that arbitration is a matter of contract.” *Concepcion*, 563 U.S. at 339 (cleaned up). “In line with these principles, courts must place arbitration agreements on an **equal footing** with other contracts, and enforce them **according to their terms**.” *Id.* (emphasis added) (cleaned up).

“The final phrase of § 2, however, permits arbitration agreements to be declared unenforceable upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.” *Id.* (cleaned up). “This saving clause permits agreements to arbitrate to be invalidated by generally applicable contract defenses, such as fraud, duress, or unconscionability, but **not by defenses that apply only to arbitration or that derive their meaning from the fact that an agreement to arbitrate is at issue**.” *Id.* (emphasis added) (cleaned up).

“When state law prohibits outright the arbitration of a particular type of claim, the analysis is straightforward: The conflicting rule is displaced by the FAA.” *Id.* at

341. “But the inquiry becomes more complex when a doctrine normally thought to be generally applicable, such as duress or, as relevant here, unconscionability, is alleged to have been applied in a fashion that disfavors arbitration.” *Id.*

“[A] court may not rely on the uniqueness of an agreement to arbitrate as a basis for a state-law holding that enforcement would be unconscionable, for this would enable the court to effect what the state legislature cannot.” *Id.*

“An obvious illustration of this point would be a case finding unconscionable or unenforceable as against public policy consumer arbitration agreements that fail to provide for judicially monitored discovery.” *Id.* at 341-42. “The rationalizations for such a holding are neither difficult to imagine nor different in kind from those articulated in *Discover Bank*. A court might reason that **no consumer would knowingly waive his right to full discovery, as this would enable companies to hide their wrongdoing.**” *Id.* at 342 (emphasis added). “Or the court might simply say that such agreements are exculpatory—**restricting discovery would be of greater benefit to the company than the consumer,** since the former is more likely to be sued than to sue.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

“And, the reasoning would continue, because such a rule applies the general principle of unconscionability or public-policy disapproval of exculpatory agreements, it is applicable to ‘any’ contract and thus preserved by § 2 of the FAA.” *Id.* “In practice, of course, the rule would have a disproportionate impact on arbitration agreements; but it would presumably apply to contracts purporting to restrict discovery in litigation as well.” *Id.*

“Other examples are easy to imagine.” *Id.* “The same argument might apply to a rule classifying as unconscionable arbitration agreements that fail to abide by the Federal Rules of Evidence . . .” *Id.* “Such examples are not fanciful, since the judicial hostility towards arbitration that prompted the FAA had manifested itself in a great variety of devices and formulas declaring arbitration against public policy.” *Id.* (cleaned up).

“[W]e have held that parties may agree to limit the issues subject to arbitration, **to arbitrate according to specific rules**, and to limit with whom a party will arbitrate its disputes.” *Id.* at 344 (emphasis added) (cleaned up). “The point of affording parties discretion in designing arbitration processes is to allow for efficient, streamlined procedures tailored to the type of dispute.” *Id.* “And the informality of arbitral proceedings is itself desirable, reducing the cost and increasing the speed of dispute resolution.” *Id.* at 345.

“Although § 2's saving clause preserves generally applicable contract defenses, nothing in it suggests an intent to preserve state-law rules that stand as an obstacle to the accomplishment of the FAA's objectives.” *Id.* at 343.

A. The Arbitration Provision was not unconscionable under generally applicable contract law principles.

The Arbitration Provision here was not unconscionable under the generally applicable common law doctrine of unconscionability, *i.e.*, the version of the doctrine that applies to all contracts, not just arbitration provisions.

However, under current South Carolina law, there are essentially two different legal standards for unconscionability: one that applies to contracts generally and the

other that applies only to arbitration provisions. The unconscionability standard that appears in *Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 14, 25, 644 S.E.2d 663, 669 (2007), and its progeny, is a modified version of unconscionability that applies only to arbitration provisions and significantly lowers a party's burden of proving unconscionability. Accordingly, the *Simpson* formulation of unconscionability is preempted by the FAA.

In *Concepcion*, the United States Supreme Court held that the FAA preempted a California state law “refinement” to the generally applicable contract law doctrine of unconscionability, called the *Discover Bank* Rule, because it made it easier for a party to establish unconscionability and its application, *de facto*, had a disproportionate impact on the enforcement of arbitration agreements. See *Concepcion*, 563 U.S. 333.

As the Ninth Circuit later remarked, “[w]e take *Concepcion* to mean what its plain language says: Any general state-law contract defense, based in unconscionability or otherwise, that has a disproportionate effect on arbitration is displaced by the FAA.” *Mortensen v. Bresnan Commc'ns, LLC*, 722 F.3d 1151, 1159 (9th Cir. 2013).

First, I will discuss why the Arbitration Provision here was not unconscionable under the generally applicable doctrine of unconscionability. Then, I will discuss why *Simpson* and its progeny is preempted by the FAA.

1. Procedural unconscionability, as understood by the generally applicable doctrine of unconscionability.

The party asserting unconscionability has the burden of proving both procedural and substantive unconscionability. *See* 17A Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 272 (“Substantive unconscionability appears in the content of the contract per se, while procedural unconscionability entails an examination of the contract formation process, and both are generally necessary to establish unconscionability.”).

“Procedural unconscionability involves ‘bargaining naughtiness’ in contract formation. It is determined by analyzing the respective bargaining power of the contracting parties, and the ability of the particular contracting party, in light of **education, intelligence, or lack thereof, to understand the terms of the contract.**” *Id.* (emphasis added).

Absent a strong law or a transgression of strong public policy, however, parties to a contract are basically free to make whatever agreement they wish, no matter how unwise it might appear to third parties. Thus, in the absence of any mistake, fraud, or oppression, the courts, as such, are not interested in the wisdom of contracts and agreements voluntarily entered into between competent parties. The fact that one of the parties to a contract made a hard bargain will not alone avoid the contract, and courts will not lend themselves to striking down a contract, otherwise valid, simply because the vicissitudes of time proved it to be a "bad" bargain for one of the parties.

17A Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 271.

The generally applicable legal standard for procedural unconscionability was discussed by the *Gladden* Court as follows:

Courts should not refuse to enforce a contract on grounds of unconscionability, even when the substance of the terms appear grossly unreasonable, unless the **circumstances surrounding its formation** present such an **extreme** inequality of bargaining power, **together**

with factors such as lack of basic reading ability and the drafter's evident intent to obscure the term, that the party against whom enforcement is sought **cannot be said to have consented to the contract**.

Gladden v. Boykin, 402 S.C. 140, 145, 739 S.E.2d 882, 884-85 (2013) (emphasis added).

Under the generally applicable doctrine of unconscionability, it is extremely difficult for a party to successfully demonstrate that procedural unconscionability was present.

For example, consider *Hudson v. Hudson*, 408 S.C. 76, 757 S.E.2d 727 (Ct. App. 2014). In *Hudson*, Husband sought to enforce the terms of a prenuptial agreement in which Wife waived her right to receive alimony and Wife claimed the prenuptial agreement was unconscionable. *Id.*

The prenuptial agreement was drafted by Husband's attorney and had terms that were more favorable to Husband than to Wife. *Id.* at 78-82, 757 S.E.2d at 728-30. Husband was a wealthy licensed attorney, a business owner, and an investor. *Id.* Conversely, Wife had only an associate's degree in fashion merchandising. *Id.* Wife testified that she never read the agreement. *Id.* Wife spoke to Husband's close friend, Solomon, who was an attorney, for about an hour about the agreement but Solomon gave her no legal advice regarding the agreement, never told wife that the agreement included an alimony waiver, and "merely told her Husband was a good guy." *Id.*

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