**RECEIVED**

**Apr 02 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Patrick Cleburne Fant, III, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2025-002427

---

Estate of Virginia Parsons by ..... Respondent  
and through her Personal  
Representative Sandra P. White,  
Individually and on behalf  
of statutory beneficiaries

v.

Atlas Senior Living, LLC; Atlas  
Senior Living II, LLC; AFF18  
Oakview Park ALF, LLC d/b/a  
Oakview Park Assisted Living;  
AFF18 Oakview Park PropCo,  
LLC; AFF18 Greenville,  
Borrower LLC; Oakview Park  
Developer, LLC ..... Appellants.

---

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

## ARGUMENT

### **1. Appellants’ Simpson challenge and preemption argument are not preserved for review.**

Appellants devote a substantial portion of their brief to challenging the foundations of South Carolina’s unconscionability jurisprudence. (App. Br. at 1, 11, 40-48). They argue South Carolina appellate courts have been applying “two different legal standards for unconscionability” and pinpoint a 2007 Supreme Court case as where things began to go wrong. (App. Br. at 11) (citing Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc., 373 S.C. 14, 644 S.E.2d 663 (2007)). Simpson, they insist, represents a view of this contract defense “that applies only to arbitration provisions.” (App. Br. at 11). Appellants go on to argue Simpson and progeny cannot stand because, by unfairly targeting or disproportionately affecting arbitration, they are preempted by provisions of the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”). (App. Br. at 11, 40, 43, 48). For reasons discussed below, Appellants err in their characterization and interpretation of South Carolina’s unconscionability cases. Yet, Appellants’ argument suffers from a more fundamental flaw. None of these assertions were made during the circuit court proceedings which means there is no circuit court ruling to review and no need for this Court to consider Appellants’ attempt to fundamentally reorder how South Carolina courts address unconscionable contracts.

Appellate courts are courts of review, “not of first view,” and an aggrieved party must present and receive a ruling on an argument to later cite it as a legal error in the appellate courts. State v. Williams, 439 S.C. 620, 623, 889 S.E.2d 562, 563 (2023) (quoting Cutter v. Wilkinson, 544 U.S. 709, 718 n. 7 (2005)). Issue preservation consists of four core components. The issue must be “(1) raised and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity.” Rummage v. BGF Indus., 434 S.C. 441, 865 S.E.2d 380 (Ct. App 2021) (citing S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. First Carolina

Corp of S.C., 372 S.C. 295, 302, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2001); see also Jean Hoefler Toal et al. Appellate Practice in South Carolina 57 (2d ed. 20002). Error preservation rules serve an important function in that they enable trial courts to rule on matters after consideration of all relevant facts, law, and arguments. Miller v. Dillon, 432 S.C. 197, 207, 851 S.E.2d 462, 467 (Ct. App. 2020). So, as a bottom line, “[a] trial court must have the chance to decide on an issue for it to be preserved on appeal.” Thompson v. Killian, 447 S.C. 177, 195, 924 S.E.2d 606, 615 (2025).

None of Appellants’ circuit court filings include the arguments they make now. Their motion to compel arbitration simply cited the Agreement’s arbitration provision and asked the circuit court to enforce it. (Defs.’ Mot. to Compel Arb. at 1-2). Their supporting memorandum did not reference unconscionability at all. (Defs.’ Mem. in Supp. of Mot. to Compel Arb). In response to Ms. White’s unconscionability argument, Appellants’ reply memo never argued South Carolina has two different unconscionability standards and never even hinted that the FAA preempts Simpson’s unconscionability analysis. (Defs.’ Reply in Supp. of Mot. to Compel Arb.). Additionally, while initially raising this issue in connection with a Rule 59(e), SCRCF, motion would be insufficient for preservation purposes, it is notable that neither memo Appellants filed in relation to that motion contain their current arguments either. (Defs.’ Mot. to Alter or Amend J.; Defs.’ Reply in Supp. of Mot. to Alter or Amend J.).

Plus, it is not just that Appellants failed to challenge the Simpson analysis below, they were actively asking the circuit court to apply that analysis to this case. Simpson was always the first cases Appellants cited to define unconscionability and to define its parameters. In the circuit court, their argument was that the Simpson analysis favored their desired outcome. (Defs.’ Reply in Supp. of Mot. to Compel Arb. at 6-7) (quoting Simpson extensively as the “rubric” courts use to “determine whether a contract provision is unconscionable”); (Defs.’ Mot. to Alter or Amend J. at

3); (Defs.' Reply in Supp. of Mot. to Alter or Amend J. at 8). Perhaps less convinced of that now, Appellants try to dismantle Simpson with a wholly new preemption argument. That argument is unpreserved and should be rejected without even reaching its merits.

**2. South Carolina law applies the same unconscionability analysis to an arbitration agreement that it applies to any other contract.**

Even if the Court reached this argument on its merits, the case law Appellants cite does not show South Carolina appellate courts have developed an arbitration-specific unconscionability analysis that varies from the way unconscionability is viewed in all other contractual contexts. Appellants rely primarily on Gladden v. Boykin, 402 S.C. 140, 739 S.E.2d 882 (2013), going so far as to call for application of the “Gladden factors.” (App. Br. at 18). But, to suggest Gladden and Simpson represent divergent paths for unconscionability under South Carolina law does not withstand scrutiny. Gladden defines unconscionability *by quoting Simpson*. Gladden, 402 S.C. at 144, 739 S.E.2d at 884 (quoting Simpson, 373 S.C. at 24-25, 644 S.E.2d at 668). South Carolina law recognizes a single, unified doctrine of unconscionability, and Appellants’ attempt to divide that doctrine into arbitration and non-arbitration strands is contradicted by the very cases they cite.

Appellants’ argument is just as flawed with the other cases cited to represent the “generally applicable doctrine of unconscionability.” (App. Br. at 12). Appellants rely on a series of family court cases addressing pre-nuptial agreements and suggest they represent a clear break from the arbitration-specific unconscionability standard our Supreme Court opted for in Simpson. (App. Br. at 13-17) (citing Hardee v. Hardee, 355 S.C. 382, 585 S.E.2d 501 (2003), Hudson v. Hudson, 408 S.C. 76, 757 S.E.2d 727 (Ct. App. 2014), and Holler v. Holler, 364 S.C. 256, 612 S.E.2d 469 (Ct. App. 2005)). But, tracing the origin of the unconscionability analysis through these cases disproves Appellants’ theory. Hudson took its unconscionability analysis from Hardee and Holler, the pre-nuptial cases that preceded it. 408 S.C. at 83, 757 S.E.2d at 730. Both of those cases took their

analyses from cases addressing arbitration contracts. Hardee drew its unconscionability analysis from a Supreme Court case considering the arbitration provision in a home construction contract. 355 S.C. at 390, 585 S.E.2d at 505 (citing Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp., 343 S.C. 531, 542 S.E.2d 360 (2001)). Holler looked to Supreme Court precedent on a health insurance services agreement’s arbitration provision to identify the key components of an unconscionable contract. 364 S.C. at 269, 612 S.E.2d at 476 (citing Carolina Care Plan, Inc. v. United HealthCare Servs., Inc., 361 S.C. 544, 606 S.E.2d 752 (2004)). The notion of “two different legal standards for unconscionability”—one for arbitration cases, the other for every other type of contract—just is not borne out in the cases Appellants cite.

Beyond the prenuptial agreement cases, what remains of Appellants’ argument is easily distinguished. (App. Br. at 15-16) (citing Fanning v. Fritz’s Pontiac-Cadillac-Buick, Inc., 322 S.C. 399, 472 S.E.2d 242 (1996) and Jones Leasing, Inc. v Gene Phillips & Assocs., 282 S.C. 327, 318 S.E.2d 31 (Ct. App. 1984)). While Appellants cannot show any real substantive difference in how these cases define or apply unconscionability, any perceived difference is explained by the fact that these cases applied *statutory* unconscionability rules limited to specific types of contracts not relevant here. Damico v. Lennar Carolinas, LLC, 437 S.C. 596, 611, 879 S.E.2d 746 (2022) (citing Fanning and concluding its “description of unconscionability applies to all contract terms, not merely arbitration provisions”). Fanning applied an express unconscionability standard for “consumer credit” transactions in the South Carolina Consumer Protection Code. 322 S.C. at 403, 472 S.E.2d at 245 (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-108). Jones Leasing interpreted the description of unconscionability in S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-302, a provision within South Carolina’s codification of the Uniform Commercial Code Article 2 that applies only to contracts for the sale

of goods. 282 S.C. at 329, 318 S.E.2d at 32 (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-302); S.C. Code Ann. § 36-2-102 (providing that all of Article 2 is limited to “transactions in goods”).<sup>1</sup>

In short, even if Appellants’ Simpson challenge was preserved, it would fail on the merits. South Carolina has applied the same unconscionability standard before and after Simpson both in and out of the arbitration context. Citing this universal standard does not conflict or invade the province of the FAA but rather is expressly permitted by the statute. 9 U.S.C. § 2 (stating that a proposed arbitration agreement may be invalidated “upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for the revocation of any contract . . .”).

**3. The Facility’s use of its grossly superior bargaining position to prevent depositions, impose exorbitant costs, and to outlaw statutorily-protected remedies renders the Agreement unconscionable.**

The Agreement’s arbitration language bears all the hallmarks of an unconscionable contract provision. It lies buried seven pages in to an Agreement drafted exclusively by a sophisticated business entity and presented to the relative of an elderly dementia patient in need of memory care. Within the Agreement, the Facility exploited its superior bargaining position by imposing provisions that could only be designed to avoid liability for its misconduct. These provisions did far more than just remove an aggrieved resident’s injury claim from litigation. They made the pursuit of a resident’s claim less informed, more expensive, and less valuable. And, on top of all of that, the Facility managed to reserve for itself the right to litigate should it decide to

---

<sup>1</sup> The unreported opinions Appellants cite are equally unhelpful in showing a two-tiered unconscionability system. Todd took its unconscionability analysis from an arbitration contract case, and Centura Bank considered only the statutory unconscionability provision in the Consumer Protection Code. Todd, 2007 WL 8324253, at \* 2 (citing Lackey v. Green Tree Fin. Corp., 330 S.C. 388, 394, 498 S.E.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 1998); Centura Bank, 2004 WL 6331130, at \* 3 (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 37-5-108).

pursue eviction. Multiple courts from across the country have declared this precise contract language to be unconscionable, and the circuit court was correct in joining them here.

**a. The Agreement’s structure and the way in which the Facility presented it shows the required procedural unconscionability.**

In both the arbitration and non-arbitration contexts, unconscionability is “the absence of meaningful choice on the part of one party due to one-sided contract provisions, together with terms that are so oppressive that no reasonable person would make them and no fair and honest person would accept them.” Simpson, 373 S.C. at 24-25, 644 S.E.2d at 668 (quoting Carolina Care Plan, 361 S.C. at 554, 606 S.E.2d at 757); Gladden, 402 S.C. at 144, 739 S.E.2d at 884. The “absence of meaningful choice” requirement “speaks to the fundamental fairness of the bargaining process.” Simpson, 373 S.C. at 25, 644 S.E.2d at 669. The key factors on this element include (1) the nature of the injuries suffered by the plaintiff; (2) whether the plaintiff is a substantial business concern; (3) the relative disparity in the parties’ bargaining power; (4) the parties’ relative sophistication; (5) whether there is an element of surprise in the inclusion of the challenged clause; and (6) the conspicuousness of the arbitration clause. Id. (citing Carlson v. Gen. Motors Corp., 883 F.2d 287, 293 (4th Cir. 1989)).

Applying these factors to the Agreement shows the fundamental unfairness of the bargaining process. Initially, the Agreement is an adhesion contract in that it was printed on a standardized form, offered to Mother (through Daughter) on a take-it-or-leave-it basis, and did not offer any chance to negotiate. Retreat at Charleston Nat’l Country Club Home Owners Ass’n, Inc. v. Winston Carlyle Charleston Nat’l, LLC, 445 S.C. 566, 598, 915 S.E.2d 736, 753 (Ct. App. 2025). Adhesion contracts are not per se unconscionable but identifying a document as an adhesion contract is a starting point for analyzing the substantive factors. Simpson, 373 S.C. at 27, 644 S.E.2d at 669. South Carolina courts have always viewed adhesion contracts with “considerable

skepticism” because they give rise to “considerable doubt that any true agreement ever existed to submit disputes to arbitration.” Smith v. DR Horton, Inc., 417 S.C. 42, 49, 790 S.E.2d 1, 4 (2016) (quoting Simpson, 373 S.C. at 26-27, 644 S.E.2d at 669-70).

The first factor favors Respondent because Mother’s injuries were personal and substantial. Appellants’ alleged negligence led to a painful broken hip and other serious injuries ultimately resulting in Mother’s death. The other factors also favor Respondent. Daughter was not a substantial business concern. She was acting only as Mother’s representative with the aim of obtaining the nursing care he urgently needed. In contrast, Appellants are sophisticated business entities evidenced in many ways including the complex organization structure they have built to manage the Facility’s operations. See Compl. ¶¶ 5-12. The disparity in bargaining power is also considerable. Appellants operate more than thirty residential facilities for elderly individuals across ten states. Mother, on the other hand, was a vulnerable woman suffering from dementia and in need of memory care to continue from day to day.

Appellants contend this factor favors them, arguing there is no unequal bargaining power because Daughter is a real estate professional with the ability to read the Agreement’s terms. (App. Br. at 18-19). However, the inherent inequality of bargaining power in situations like this is a matter beyond reasonable dispute. In fact, the South Carolina Supreme Court has even taken judicial notice of the disparity between home buyers and sellers. Kennedy v. Columbia Lumber & Mfg. Co., 299 S.C. 335, 343, 384 S.E.2d 730, 735-36 (1989). That disparity only rises when the person seeking housing suffers from dementia, and the party from which it is sought is a memory care center. As for Appellants’ other argument, the fact that Daughter holds a real estate license and could read the Agreement does not allow Appellants to side step the “meaningful choice” analysis. As this Court recently held, that analysis is not limited to questions of generalized reading

comprehension but instead considers whether Daughter “understood the implications of the language in these agreements.” Retreat at Charleston, 445 S.C. at 598, 915 S.E.2d at 753. As discussed in more detail below, being a real estate agent does not mean Daughter understood the implications of a fact witness deposition ban, economic damages cap, or collateral source rule alteration on the viability and value of a potential negligence claim.

Additionally, the key language of the Agreement was not conspicuous relative to any of the other paperwork the Facility presented to Daughter. The arbitration and limitation on liability provisions begin on page 7 of 20 and are indistinguishable in formatting from any of the other section headings throughout the contract. Daughter’s surprise at the inclusion of these provisions and the rushed process in which she was asked to sign the Agreement are further supported by her affidavit. (S. White Aff. ¶¶ 4-8). Plus, the lack of conspicuousness and surprise elements relate not only to how prominently an arbitration provision is featured in a contract but also consider whether the way in which the arbitration provision is drafted imposes substantive limitations that would not be immediately apparent to an unsophisticated person. E.g. Simpson, 373 S.C. at 27-28, 644 S.E.2d at 670 (finding arbitration provision “inconspicuous . . . in light of its consequences” including the deprivation of statutory remedies).

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